
South Haven City Hall is Barrier-free and the City of South Haven will provide the necessary reasonable auxiliary aids 
and services for persons with disabilities, such as signers for the hearing impaired and audio tapes of printed 
materials being considered at the meeting to individuals with disabilities at the meeting upon seven (7) days notice to 
the South Haven City Clerk. Individuals with disabilities requiring services should contact the City Clerk by writing or 
calling South Haven City Hall at (269) 637-0700. 

 
 

Planning Commission 
 

 
Meeting Agenda  
Thursday, January 8, 2015 
7:00 p.m., Council Chambers 
 

City of South Haven 
                                                                      

 
       
 
1. Call to Order  
 
2. Roll Call 

 
3. Approval of Agenda  
 
4. Approval of Minutes – November 13, 2014 

 
5. Interested Citizens in the Audience Will be Heard on Items Not on the Agenda 
 
6. New Business  - Public Hearing 

 
Webb Architects, representing O’Reilly Auto Parts of Springfield, MO, is requesting a 
special use permit in order to provide parking spaces over that which is required for 
their new store to be located at 369 Blue Star Highway. Zoning Ordinance Section 
2406-6 requires 22 spaces for the store and the applicant is seeking to construct 35 
spaces. The special use permit is required in Zoning Ordinance Section 2403-b. 

 
7. Other Business – Site Plan Review 

 
a) Webb Architects, representing O’Reilly Auto Parts of Springfield, MO, has 

submitted plans for a new store at 369 Blue Star Highway. Review and 
approval of commercial plans by the planning commission is required under 
Zoning Ordinance Section 1401-1. 

 
b) Annual Report to City Council 

 
c) Dog Ordinance memo 

 
8. Commissioner Comments 
 

 
 
 

January 8, 2015 
Planning Commission 

Page 1 of 64



 
South Haven City Hall is barrier free and the City of South Haven will provide the necessary 
reasonable auxiliary aids and services for persons with disabilities, such as signers for the 
hearing impaired and audio tapes of printed materials being considered at the meeting to 
individuals with disabilities at the meeting upon seven (7) days notice to the South Haven City 
Hall.    
 

2 

9. Adjourn 
 
RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED, 
Linda Anderson, Zoning Administrator 
 

 
 
 

January 8, 2015 
Planning Commission 

Page 2 of 64



 
 

Planning Commission 
 

 
Meeting Minutes 
Thursday, November 13, 2014 
7:00 p.m., Council Chambers 
 

City of South Haven 
                                                                      

 

       
 
1. Call to Order by Paull at 7:00 p.m. 
 
2. Roll Call 
 

Present: Frost (arrived 7:03 p.m.), Heinig, Peterson, Smith, Stimson, Webb, Paull 
Absent:  Miles, Wall 
 
Motion by Smith, second by Stimson to excuse absent members. 
 
All in favor. Motion carried. 

 
3. Approval of Agenda  
 

Motion by Heinig, second by Stimson to approve the agenda as presented. 
 
All in favor. Motion carried. 

 
4. Approval of Minutes – October 2, 2014 
 

Motion by Heinig, second by Peterson to approve the October 2, 2014 regular meeting 
minutes as written. 
 
All in favor. Motion carried. 

 
5. Interested Citizens in the Audience Will be Heard on Items Not on the Agenda 
 

None at this time. 
 
6. New Business – Approve 2015 Meeting Schedule 

 
Motion by Smith, second by Heinig to approve 2015 schedule. 
 
All in favor. Motion carried.  

 
7. Unfinished Business 

 
 
 

January 8, 2015 
Planning Commission 

Page 3 of 64



November 13, 2014 
Planning Commission 
Regular Meeting Minutes 
 

 2 

 
a) Draft Noise Ordinance Review 

 
Paull explained that the purpose of the meeting is to review the changes to the noise 
ordinance proposed by the sub-committee.  Paull also noted that he is hopeful that after 
review this committee’s recommendation can be recommended to City Council. The 
Planning Commission will not be approving these changes but City Council will be 
making that decision. 
 
Anderson gave an overview of the original ordinance and the sub-committee’s work since 
March 2014. She noted that this task was assigned to the Planning Commission because 
reviewing the noise ordinance was one of the City Council’s goals for this year. It was 
important to the subcommittee to draft an ordinance that would be easy to understand 
and enforce. There was vague or confusing language which had to be addressed right 
away. Some language was too subjective or not specific enough for an ordinance. 
Anderson reviewed the language in question pointing out the sections that are vague, 
confusing or subjective. 
 
Anderson also noted that the ordinance contained a table of acceptable decibel limits 
which were different for day and night which was very confusing and which also required 
the police officers to know the zoning districts and specific land use categories within the 
city. The ordinance also had confusing language in regard to decibel limits. Anderson 
reviewed the table of decibel limits, distances, land uses and zoning districts noting this 
could be really confusing.  
 
The decibel level limitations included a sentence which read “Noise levels shall be 
measured on the property line or on the adjacent property.” Anderson noted that it was 
not difficult for the subcommittee to see how these readings were confusing.  
 
After identifying those issues the subcommittee tried to come up with something that 
would be easy to use and fair for everyone, according to Anderson. Noted that Teri Webb 
will speak to the methodology used by the subcommittee, then Larry Heinig will talk about 
noise levels and decibels, and finally, Anderson will explain the specific changes 
recommended in the proposed ordinance. 
 
Terry Webb, subcommittee member: “The subcommittee met with the mayor, the police 
chief and directors and managers of the Housing Commission and Old Harbor Village. 
They then took a field trip to Listiak Auditorium to hear what decibel levels sounded like. 
Once that was accomplished, the subcommittee also wanted to hear the decibels in the 
open environment in which they were taken, including the ambient noises such as traffic, 
wind and conversation. It was thought that it would be different to   experience the decibel 
levels in this environment rather than in a closed auditorium.”  
 
Webb noted that the subcommittee went with one of the police officers to visit the sites 
around the Saturday night midnight hour. “We wanted to hear what the noise sounded 
like, not to determine if the bars were complying with the ordinances, but to hear what 
seventy-five (75) or sixty (60) decibels sounded like at the establishment.”  
 
Webb observed that while four members of the subcommittee were having a quiet 
conversation the decibel meter spiked to about sixty-eight (68) decibels. “We went to the 

 
 
 

January 8, 2015 
Planning Commission 

Page 4 of 64



November 13, 2014 
Planning Commission 
Regular Meeting Minutes 
 

 3 

different areas, and looked at the decibel levels when someone was walking down the 
street and saw that the drawbridge registered in the eighties. We thought it was 
responsible for us to go out and hear and see what different noises registered on the 
decibel meter. It was a windy night and we were on the drawbridge, the yacht club had a 
band playing, which you could hear all the way up to the drawbridge. It became evident 
that there were many factors.” Webb noted that the subcommittee felt best practice would 
be to take the readings at a predetermined place at each establishment: 1.) for 
consistency and 2.) because previous readings were being taken from all different places 
including across the street or from neighboring properties which brought in many other 
factors. “We felt it was important to take the readings from the same place each time.”  
 
Anderson interjected that readings taken in the summer were around the mid-to-high 
fifties but when the decibel reading was close enough to rule out ambient noise the 
numbers rose considerably. Even ten feet (10’) away made a terrific difference.  
 
Larry Heinig, subcommittee member: “The question we had was with all these decibel 
readings taken from all different places and in many different circumstances.” He 
explained the subcommittee used a logarithm which comes with the decibel reader the 
city is using. The point of using the logarithm was to try to explain how decibel levels 
reduce the further the decibel reader is from the source of the noise. Heinig noted that 
there are limitations to this kind of formula. Being theoretical the logarithm does not 
consider every possible situation in the real world such as air density, wind speed and 
direction and interference of other sounds with the noise you are trying to measure. “So 
the subcommittee tried to work with measuring noise from a point as close as possible to 
the source of the noise; even then you have never completely taken into consideration 
other noises.”  
 
Heinig noted that the source of noise is different from one establishment or location to 
another. “Black River Tavern is all enclosed so the best place would be an open window 
or door. Captain Lou’s is very open so you need to look closer at where the noise is being 
measured.” Heinig explained that the maps in the Planning Commission packet take into 
account the distance and other factors that need to be considered. Once the 
subcommittee had visited and measured sound at various sites, they tried to come up 
with an average that could be used with all of the sites throughout the city. 
 
Webb pointed out that when the subcommittee first began meeting they started by 
looking at other cities along the lake and what levels they had set. “But after doing our 
research, the group questioned whether these cities actually did research and knew what 
a decibel sounded like or if some city somewhere set a level and maybe others just 
followed suit.” Webb stated that she is glad the subcommittee went out in the field and 
learned what these decibel levels sound like.  
 
Anderson interjected that the majority of cities the group looked at “don’t use decibels, but 
still use that ‘unreasonably loud’ language, and hardly enforced the ordinance.  
 
Smith questioned the table with average decibels and weighted decibels. Heinig 
explained that the weighted decibels were what the group felt those readings would 
convert to when measuring from a pre-determined location. Heinig explained, “It’s the 
same noise and the table is just showing how we come up with a different reading.”  
 

 
 
 

January 8, 2015 
Planning Commission 

Page 5 of 64



November 13, 2014 
Planning Commission 
Regular Meeting Minutes 
 

 4 

Anderson went over the changes in the ordinance that may be proposed to the city 
council. “We added ‘ambient noise level’ to the definitions. From 1:30 a.m. to 7:00 a.m. 
ambient noise (around 55 – 60 decibels) would be permitted in the general area. In 
Section 30-29: ‘Specific Prohibitions’ the last line regarding reproducing sound was 
deleted. The decibel limit levels were changed quite dramatically. The group eliminated 
the table that was in the ordinance and clarified that taking the reading from different 
locations each time is not working; we are saying that noise levels will be measured at 
the property line or a specific location determined by the police chief or his 
representative. Because the measurements will be taken at the closer proximity, by 
setting a designated location where the readings would be taken, the subcommittee 
combined commercial and residential together – the areas where the majority of the 
sound is occurring. Downtown there is a mix of commercial and residential. The 
subcommittee decided not to recommend that decibel levels change various times during 
the evening. Their recommendation is that the decibel level would be raised to seventy-
five (75) over the sixty (60) currently in the ordinance but would be measured at close 
proximity.” Anderson noted that the readings taken last summer by the subcommittee 
ranged between sixty-eight (68) and seventy-four (74), the average reading at close 
proximity.  
 
Anderson noted that the subcommittee recommends seventy-five (75) decibels around 
the clock in industrial areas and eliminated sections following the table which reference 
specific noise activities and talking about the one hundred foot (100’) distance. “The goal 
was to have real consistency. This is how it’s measured, to measure in the same spot 
every time to be absolutely consistent.” 
 
Regarding Section 30-31 the part concerning operation or use between 9:00 a.m. and 
10:00 p.m. regarding amplifiers, loudspeakers, and similar devices, it was noted that it 
does not matter what the noise is if you are staying within the decibel level. The 
subcommittee also combined a few things regarding lawn maintenance and snow 
removal. Anderson noted, “We didn’t want people to be unable to come home from work 
and mow their lawn.” Anderson also pointed out that (6) Construction sounds has not 
changed “except that we have placed a limit of 100 decibels for that and limited the work 
to no more than two (2) hours at one time. 
 
The biggest changes made, according to Anderson, were to take out conflicting language 
and vague language that is not enforceable to base the ordinance solely on decibel 
levels, not distances, and identify exactly where readings would be taken. “This makes it 
much easier to enforce; seems fair to bar owners, fair to the public and should work fairly 
well. The subcommittee put literally hundreds of hours into this. If you have questions for 
the subcommittee ask them. We cannot send this document to City Council without the 
full planning commission reviewing it first. Then it is up to the city council what they 
decide to do and what they will do.” Anderson explained that the ordinance cannot be 
adopted or enacted without a public hearing. “We have to have at least one more before 
adoption can happen. The subcommittee believes the Planning Commission has fulfilled 
their task as assigned.” 
 
Heinig noted that we had a recommendation regarding the fine. Anderson explained that 
the current ordinance recommends a fine of $50 for most things in the code. The 
subcommittee proposes that be increased to $100 for a first offense.  
 

 
 
 

January 8, 2015 
Planning Commission 

Page 6 of 64



November 13, 2014 
Planning Commission 
Regular Meeting Minutes 
 

 5 

Smith again brought up the issue of average decibels versus weighted averages. Heinig 
said the weighted average is louder than what is being proposed. Webb noted that the 
formula was used simply to reconcile the differences between the summer readings and 
what subcommittee members were hearing at the site as opposed to across the street or 
down the block. Webb further explained that the weighted averages were used to show 
what the summer readings would have been if taken at the proposed sites. The 
subcommittee was trying to reconcile the reason why the readings taken by the police 
officers and the subcommittee members were different.  
 
Peterson pointed out that the people that spoke at the last public meeting should be given 
credit because that is what prompted the subcommittee to go into the field and hear for 
themselves.  
 
Webb reiterated that the way the original ordinance was worded needed to be reconciled 
with what the subcommittee was hearing. In fairness to the establishments, when the 
reading is taken in close proximity, that is something they can control. If you are taking it 
from a different location there will be interference from other activities and noise. 
 
Frost asked what the decibel reading of seventy-five (75) is comparable to, which is 
conversation, according to Anderson. Sixty-five (65) is approximately the ambient noise 
downtown. Frost does not understand why the recommendation is seventy-five (75) 
decibels when quiet conversation is sixty (60) and a vehicle going over the Dyckman 
Bridge registered eight-three (83) decibels. Why is it not higher? 
 
The readings, according to Anderson, at the bars at midnight outside the doors were 
about sixty-eight (68) to seventy-three (73), so it was felt that seventy-five (75) was 
reasonable. Increasing acceptable levels to seventy-five (75), according to Anderson, 
would reflect the noise level at about what it was last year. “This doesn’t change the noise 
level, just the decibel level because of where the readings will be taken.”  
 
Frost asked if there was discussion about allowing louder noise on Friday night and 
Saturday night. Heinig said one of the goals we had was to get an ordinance that was 
easy for the police officers to understand and enforce. To keep it simple, we concluded it 
was best to keep one decibel level. Anderson said changing by day of the week would 
still be simpler than the way the original ordinance was, changing by hour. Frost feels it 
makes sense to explore that, at least during the summer. Heinig pointed out you have 
people in residences trying to sleep; “we are trying to find a balance.”  
 
Anderson interjected that most of the people who live in condos nearby showed support 
at the public hearing but it was the Nichols Hotel and Old Harbor Village owners and 
managers that felt the music/sound was too loud and went too far into the night.  
 
Smith questioned whether there is a big difference between a reading of seventy-five (75) 
and a reading of eighty (80). Peterson said the music playing was very loud right at the 
door. Paull explained the decibel reading is logarithmic so five (5) units means a very 
large change. The difference between seventy-five (75) and eighty (80) is actually 
significant. Paull explained the committee spent a lot of time to try to determine a 
reasonable level to permit the noise coming out of an establishment.  
 

 
 
 

January 8, 2015 
Planning Commission 

Page 7 of 64



November 13, 2014 
Planning Commission 
Regular Meeting Minutes 
 

 6 

Frost noted that “reasonable” is a malleable term, as was explained, but he understands 
what Paull is saying. Smith asked why the averages shown using the logarithm are 
around one hundred (100). Heinig explained it by noting that those readings were taken 
at quite a distance and would have ambient noise which would make interpreting the 
readings we were getting very difficult.  
 
Frost doesn’t understand why the noise at the door or the source matters. Webb 
explained that the readings are not proposed to be taken at the door; the maps show the 
locations that were determined. Heinig noted that most proposed locations are at the 
property line of the establishment.  
 
Smith asked what the subcommittee’s conclusion was regarding changing to a higher 
permitted decibel level on Friday and Saturday. Peterson noted that the subcommittee 
ended up throwing out that idea after doing their own decibel level readings.  
 
Anderson asked if the subcommittee wants to meet another time to determine whether to 
change the decibels on the weekends. Peterson noted that the readings were done the 
weekend before Labor Day, and the subcommittee rarely saw louder decibels than what 
is proposed. Stimson said the number we are proposing is not saying the noise level 
would have to be reduced. “The fact is the numbers taken from the proposed locations 
are what we are proposing.” Webb explained that the subcommittee used the formula 
only to reconcile the readings we had from the police with what we were hearing. 
 
Stimson stated that she thinks the Planning Commission is ready to go to City Council 
and give them our recommendation. City Council can take it from there and implement it 
or not. Stimson noted that it is her understanding that this portion of the ordinance is not 
even in the Planning or Zoning venue, but that City Council asked the Planning 
Commission to put this information together and they can do whatever they want to with 
it. 
 
Webb wondered about whether the subcommittee should meet again to discuss the 
Friday/Saturday increase. Heinig stated, “We do not have any new information.”  
Peterson added, “We were out on a typical Saturday night, a nice night, and we didn’t 
hear anything louder than what we are proposing.”   
 
Webb asked if the subcommittee would consider raising the permitted decibel level on 
Friday and Saturday nights to which Heinig said he has been against that from the very 
beginning and that he would not consider it.  Peterson said he would.  Stimson said she 
would like to hear the reasoning.  Webb said City Council can make that change if they 
want to. Anderson agreed. “They can accept the recommendation, not use it or change 
it.”  
 
Motion by Heinig, second by Stimson to recommend the findings of the sub-committee to 
City Council for their consideration.  
 
A roll call vote was taken: 
 

 Yes: Heinig, Peterson, Smith, Stimson, Webb, Paull 
 No:   Frost 

 

 
 
 

January 8, 2015 
Planning Commission 

Page 8 of 64



November 13, 2014 
Planning Commission 
Regular Meeting Minutes 
 

 7 

Motion carried. 
 
Paull noted that this recommendation will go to City Council, possibly with a work session 
with Planning Commission. Anderson said it will be an open meeting and anyone may 
attend. “Then City Council will decide.” 
 
Paull: “This has been a long and arduous process and I appreciate the effort and the 
stick-to-it-iveness in coming up with a recommendation for City Council. I am sorry to say 
that I have heard that this recommendation may not go anywhere and feel bad about that 
as it clarifies the current ordinance and makes it easier to enforce. We will have to see 
where it progresses from here. It would be unfortunate if this recommendation were not 
implemented as a lot of work and thought has gone into this, and as chairman, I 
appreciate that a lot.” 
 

8. Commissioner Comments 
 

Frost: Said the roads are nasty; drive safe if you have to go out. 
 
Stimson: Agreed with Frost.  
 
Webb: Hoped that the city council, when they receive this recommendation, will go out 
and hear decibels in their environment for themselves. 
 
Smith: Thanked those who went on the field trip. 
 
Peterson: Backed up what Webb said; would like council to hear what the subcommittee 
heard on a late night.  
 
Heinig: Reminded that November is Prostate Awareness Month and encouraged men to 
have the test and have the blood test. “I am here today because I had the blood test.” 
 
Paull: None. 
 

9. Adjourn 
 

Motion by Heinig, second by Frost to adjourn at 8:02 p.m. 
 
All in favor. Motion carried. 

 
 
RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED, 
 
Marsha Ransom 
Recording Secretary 
 

 
 
 

January 8, 2015 
Planning Commission 

Page 9 of 64



 
Planning Commission 

Staff Report 
November 13, 2014 

 
 

Planning Commission Staff Report 

 
Agenda Item #6 

O’Reilly Auto Parts  
Special Use Request 

 
City of South Haven 

 
 
 

Background Information:  
 
Webb Architects, representing O’Reilly Auto Parts of Springfield, Mo, is requesting a special use 
permit to allowed more parking than is required for their new store proposed for 369 Blue Star 
Highway.  
 
The subject property is included in the M-43/I-196 Business Loop Corridor Overlay Zoning 
District which requires a special use permit for any proposed use which provides more than the 
minimum number of parking spaces permitted. The applicant is asking for 35 parking spaces 
where 17 spaces is the minimum required. (The project engineer, Anderson Engineering, stated 
in a letter dated November 5, 2014 [included] that 22 parking spaces was the maximum 
permitted. In fact there was a typo in the report and 17 spaces actually is the maximum 
permitted.) If this project was not in the overlay zone, 22 spaces would be the minimum 
permitted. 
 
Recommendation:  
 
The planning commission members should review all attachments and be prepared to discuss 
and act upon the request at the January meeting. Staff does not have a problem with the 
request provided ample landscaping is permitted to avoid the monotony of paved parking.  
 
Support Material:  
 
Application 
Case Summary 
 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
Linda Anderson 
Zoning Administrator 

 
 
 

January 8, 2015 
Planning Commission 

Page 10 of 64



 
 
 

January 8, 2015 
Planning Commission 

Page 11 of 64



 
 
 

January 8, 2015 
Planning Commission 

Page 12 of 64



 
 
 

January 8, 2015 
Planning Commission 

Page 13 of 64



 
 
 

January 8, 2015 
Planning Commission 

Page 14 of 64



GENERAL INFORMATION 
 
Case Number ........................ 2015-0001 SLU 
 
Date of Plan Commission ...... 01.08.2015 
 
Applicant ............................... Webb Architects representing O’Reilly Auto Parts Stores 
 
Request ................................ Applicant requests a special use permit to provide parking spaces 

that exceed the maximum in the Corridor Overlay Zone. This 
request is supported by ordinance section 2403-1b.  

 
Location ................................ 369 Blue Star Highway 
 
Parcel Number ...................... 80-53-620-067-00 
 
Size ....................................... 93072 square feet (2.136 acres)  
 
Street Frontage ..................... 283 feet 
 
Current Zoning ...................... B-4 Major Thoroughfare Business (w/ Corridor Overlay Zoning) 
 
Proposed Zoning ................... No Change 
 
Contiguous Zoning ................ North: B-4 Districts  
 South: CSC District (Township – Community Service Commercial) 
 East: B-4 District 
 West: B-2 District 
 
Current Land Use .................. Vacant commercial property 
 
Contiguous Land Uses .......... North: Commercial 
 South: Residential  
 East: Commercial 
 West:  Commercial 
 
Comp Plan Designation ........ Commercial  
 
 
CHARACTER OF THE AREA 
The Subject Property is located in an area of mixed commercial uses including a Walgreen’s 
and the stores at Phoenix Square. The character of the area is consistant with the current 
zoning and future land use classification in its general commercial use.  
 
DEVELOPMENT PROPOSAL 

Webb Architects, representing O’Reilly Auto Parts of Springfield, MO, is requesting a 
special use permit in order to provide parking spaces over that which is required for their 
new store to be located at 369 Blue Star Highway. Zoning Ordinance Section 2406-6 
requires 22 spaces for the store and the applicant is seeking to construct 35 spaces. The 

 
 
 

January 8, 2015 
Planning Commission 

Page 15 of 64



Page 2 of 4 

special use permit is required in Zoning Ordinance Section 2403-b. The parcel number 
for the property is 80-53-620-070-00. 

 
PUBLIC RESPONSE 
N/A at time of mailing 
 
EVALUATION 
The following provisions of the Zoning Ordinance are followed by a statement (in italics) 
representing the status of the subject property as it relates to that provision. 
 
Article XV SPECIAL LAND USES (Section 1502, Basis of Determination): 
 
1. General standards - the planning commission shall review the particular circumstances 

of the special use permit application under consideration in terms of the following 
standards and shall approve a special use permit application only upon a finding of 
compliance with each of the following standards, as well as applicable standards 
established elsewhere in this ordinance:   
 
A. The special land use shall be designed, constructed, operated and maintained in 

a manner harmonious with the character of adjacent property and the 
surrounding area. 

 
This is a commercial property and the proposed use will be appropriate to the 
zoning district and surrounding area. There should be no negative impact on the 
surrounding neighborhood provided the site is well maintained and without 
outdoor storage. 

 
B. The special land use shall not change the essential character of the surrounding 

area.   
 

The subject property is surrounded by other commercial parcels with the 
exception of the property to the south which is in a residential use but 
commercially zoned. That property is just over the city limits in South Haven 
Township. Care will need to be taken to shield that property from traffic lights and 
noise along with other characteristics of a large commercial use.   

 
C. The special land use shall not be hazardous to the adjacent property, property 

values, or involve uses, activities, processes, materials or equipment which will 
be detrimental to the health, safety or welfare of persons or property through the 
excessive production of traffic, noise, smoke, fumes, ground vibration, water 
runoff, odors, light, glare or other nuisance. 

 
There should be no harmful effects on the neighborhood as far as dust, fumes or 
other irritants. Lighting from exterior illumination and traffic will need to be 
contained onsite as will any water runoff. 

 
D. The special land use shall not place demands on public services and facilities in 

excess of current capacity unless planned improvements have already been 
scheduled for completion. 

 

 
 
 

January 8, 2015 
Planning Commission 

Page 16 of 64



Page 3 of 4 

None expected. 
 
E. The special land use is consistent with the intent of the comprehensive plan. 

 
The Future Land Use Map shows the subject property as part of the Commercial 
classification. The Goals and Objectives section of the Plan states: POLICY: The 
City and South Haven Township should support redevelopment of properties 
fronting on Blue Star Highway, M-43 and Phoenix Street as retail, service and 
other commercial uses. This application furthers that goal. 
 

F. The special land use shall meet the site plan review requirements of Article IV. 
 

Although Article IV pertains to residential districts, this site plan has been 
reviewed by all city departments as well as the zoning administrator and the 
comments are included in this agenda packet. All concerns will need to be 
addressed prior to the issuance of any building permits. 
 

G. The special land use shall conform to all applicable state and federal 
requirements for that use. 

 
The owner will need to show evidence of any such permits, if required. 

 
H. The special land use shall conform with all standards in this ordinance and other 

applicable city ordinances, including but not limited to parking (see Article XVIII), 
signs (see Article XX), and standards particular to the special land use found in 
the district provisions, schedule of regulations, or elsewhere. 
 
All such provisions will be in compliance before an permits will be issued. 

 
SECTION 2403. PERMITTED AND SPECIAL USES ( from M-43/I-196 Business Loop 
Corridor Overlay Zoning District) 
 

1. Permitted and special land uses within the Overlay Zone shall be as regulated in the 
underlying zoning district (as designated on the Zoning Map) with the following additional 
provisions: 

 
a. To ensure adequate information is provided to evaluate the impact on traffic 

operations, any permitted use that can be expected to generate 50 peak hour 
directional trips or 100 peak hour trips (in and out) or 1000 trips during a typical day 
shall be classified as a special land use. Calculations of trips shall be based on the 
most recent edition of Trip Generation published by the Institute of Transportation 
Engineers. The applicant shall be responsible for providing the traffic calculations for 
review. Where no information is provided, the City shall make the determination. (A 
guideline that lists typical sizes for various uses where the thresholds are met is 
available from the zoning administrator.) 

 
 

b. Any site that provides more than the minimum parking required shall be considered a 
special land use in this chapter.  

 
This application involves that request. 

 
 
 

January 8, 2015 
Planning Commission 

Page 17 of 64



Page 4 of 4 

 
c. The use and site design shall comply with the standards of this section and other 

applicable regulations of the Corridor Overlay Zone. 
Staff and planning commission will work together to assure that all standards and 
regulations are met. 
 

d. Outdoor cafes and outdoor seating shall be allowed by special use permit in Area B 
subject to Section 1502 and 1510.34 of this chapter as applicable. Outdoor seating 
encroaching on public property shall be subject to obtaining a license agreement 
from city council. 

 
Not applicable. 
 

e. For special land uses, the following standards shall be considered along with those 
listed in Section 1502 of this chapter: 

 
I. The building and site design will be designed to promote consistency and quality 

of development within the Corridor Overlay Zone. 
II. Access spacing from intersections, other driveways, and any median crossovers 

will meet the standards within the Overlay Zone and will meet the standards of 
the applicable road agency (MDOT or the Van Buren County Road Commission), 
and will be the maximum practical. 

III. Where shared access is proposed or required, provision will be made to share 
access with adjacent uses, either now or in the future, and shall include written 
shared access and maintenance agreements to be recorded with the Van Buren 
County Register of Deeds. 

IV. Traffic impacts associated with the proposed use will be accommodated by the 
road system without degradation in the level of service1 below one grade 
(example from B to C) but in no case shall any movement(s) be projected at a 
level of service below D, unless improvements are being made to address the 
impacts. 

 
Staff has considered these standards and is confident that the standards have either been met 
with this application or are in progress. (Sheet C1 offers and explanation of trip generation for 
the use and the justification that a traffic study is not needed.) 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Staff recommends approval of the O’Reilly Auto Parts Store special use application for  
supplementary parking with the condition that the planning commission finds the landscaping 
proposed to be adequate to soften the appearance of the larger paved area.  
 
 

 

                                                           
1 AS ESTABLISHED BY THE TRANSPORTATION RESEARCH BOARD, WASHINGTON DC. 

 
 
 

January 8, 2015 
Planning Commission 

Page 18 of 64



 
Planning Commission 

Staff Report 
November 13, 2014 

 
 

Planning Commission Staff Report 

 
Agenda Item #7a 

O’Reilly Auto Parts  
Site Plan Review Request 

 
City of South Haven 

 
 
 

Background Information:  
 
Webb Architects, representing O’Reilly Auto Parts of Springfield, Mo, is requesting site plan 
approval for their new store proposed for 369 Blue Star Highway. City departments have 
reviewed the plans and have offered comments as has the zoning administrator. Those 
comments are included in this agenda and have been forwarded to the applicant. The applicant 
is working on addressing the comments and will be prepared to discuss those items at the 
meeting. 
 
The subject property is included in the M-43/I-196 Business Loop Corridor Overlay Zoning 
District and is designed to comply with all requirements included in that ordinance. 
 
Recommendation:  
 
The planning commission members should review all attachments and be prepared to discuss 
the plans at the January meeting. Staff does not have a problem with the request provided that 
all outstanding issues are satisfactorily addressed prior to the issuance of any final 
improvements or building permits.  
 
Support Material:  
 
Application 
Site plans 
Revised Sheet C4 
Exterior finishes 
Department reviews 
 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
Linda Anderson 
Zoning Administrator 

 
 
 

January 8, 2015 
Planning Commission 

Page 19 of 64



 
 
 

January 8, 2015 
Planning Commission 

Page 20 of 64



 
 
 

January 8, 2015 
Planning Commission 

Page 21 of 64



 
 
 

January 8, 2015 
Planning Commission 

Page 22 of 64



 
 
 

January 8, 2015 
Planning Commission 

Page 23 of 64



 
 
 

January 8, 2015 
Planning Commission 

Page 24 of 64



 
 
 

January 8, 2015 
Planning Commission 

Page 25 of 64



 
 
 

January 8, 2015 
Planning Commission 

Page 26 of 64



 
 
 

January 8, 2015 
Planning Commission 

Page 27 of 64



 
 
 

January 8, 2015 
Planning Commission 

Page 28 of 64



 
 
 

January 8, 2015 
Planning Commission 

Page 29 of 64



 
 
 

January 8, 2015 
Planning Commission 

Page 30 of 64



 
 
 

January 8, 2015 
Planning Commission 

Page 31 of 64



 
 
 

January 8, 2015 
Planning Commission 

Page 32 of 64



 
 
 

January 8, 2015 
Planning Commission 

Page 33 of 64



 
 
 

January 8, 2015 
Planning Commission 

Page 34 of 64



 
 
 

January 8, 2015 
Planning Commission 

Page 35 of 64



 
 
 

January 8, 2015 
Planning Commission 

Page 36 of 64



 
 
 

January 8, 2015 
Planning Commission 

Page 37 of 64



 
 
 

January 8, 2015 
Planning Commission 

Page 38 of 64



 
 
 

January 8, 2015 
Planning Commission 

Page 39 of 64



 
 
 

January 8, 2015 
Planning Commission 

Page 40 of 64



 
 
 

January 8, 2015 
Planning Commission 

Page 41 of 64



 
 
 

January 8, 2015 
Planning Commission 

Page 42 of 64



 
 
 

January 8, 2015 
Planning Commission 

Page 43 of 64



 
 
 

January 8, 2015 
Planning Commission 

Page 44 of 64



 
 
 

January 8, 2015 
Planning Commission 

Page 45 of 64



 
 
 

January 8, 2015 
Planning Commission 

Page 46 of 64



 
 
 

January 8, 2015 
Planning Commission 

Page 47 of 64



 
 
 

January 8, 2015 
Planning Commission 

Page 48 of 64



 
 
 

January 8, 2015 
Planning Commission 

Page 49 of 64



 
 
 

January 8, 2015 
Planning Commission 

Page 50 of 64



 
 
 

January 8, 2015 
Planning Commission 

Page 51 of 64



 
 
 

January 8, 2015 
Planning Commission 

Page 52 of 64



 
 
 

January 8, 2015 
Planning Commission 

Page 53 of 64



 
 
 

January 8, 2015 
Planning Commission 

Page 54 of 64



 
 
 

January 8, 2015 
Planning Commission 

Page 55 of 64



 
 
 

January 8, 2015 
Planning Commission 

Page 56 of 64



   Planning Commission                                                                                           Staff Report 

 
 #7b Planning Commission 

Annual Report to City Council 
 

City of South Haven 
 
 

Background Information: The Michigan Planning Enabling Act (Article II, Section 19-2) 
requires that the Planning Commission prepare an annual report to the City Council 
concerning “its operations and the status of planning activities, including 
recommendations regarding actions by the legislative body…” This report has been 
prepared in accordance with that requirement. 
 
This year the planning commission heard five (5) applications for special use permits 
and considered a number of amendments to the zoning ordinance. A subcommittee of 
the commission spent several months working on ordinance reviews and 
recommendations as requested by City Council. 
 
Recommendation: This report is informational only. No action needs to be taken. 
 
Support Material: Annual Report to the City Council on Planning Commission Activities 
for 2014 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

January 8, 2015 
Planning Commission 

Page 57 of 64



Annual Report to the City Council on 
Planning Commission Activities for 2014 
 

Meeting 
Date 

Agenda Items Planning Commission 
Action 

January 9 Public hearing for amendment to add single 
family homes to the B-3 uses 
 
Public hearing for amendment to add certain 
properties in the B-3 zone to the CBD 
 
Public hearing for amendment to limit building 
height in the previous amendment 

Tabled 
 
 

Tabled 
 
 

Tabled 

February 6 Further discussion of amendment to add single 
family homes to the B-3 uses 
 
Further discussion of amendment to add 
certain properties in the B-3 zone to the CBD 
 
Further discussion of amendment to limit 
building height in the previous amendment 

Forwarded to Council 
 
 

No action taken 
 
 

No action taken 

March 6 
Worksession 

Discussion of review and amendments to the 
Noise and Vendor ordinances per City Council 
request 

Subcommittees established 

April 11 No meeting  
 

May 1 Special use request for a seasonal farm market 
on private property in B-2 zone 
 
Special use request for an inground pool on a 
waterfront lot (711 Northshore) 
 
Plan review for a barge restaurant on the Black 
River (Admiral Jack’s) 

Approved 
 
 

Approved 
 
 

Approved w/conditions 

 
 
 

January 8, 2015 
Planning Commission 

Page 58 of 64



 
June 5 Public hearing on amendment to change site 

plan for Phase 2 of Riverwatch Condominiums 
 
Special use permit request to split land in the 
B-3 zone for a single family residence 
 
Draft Noise Ordinance subcommittee update 
 
Discussion of changes to B-3 ordinance as 
proposed by City Council 

Public hearing continued to 
next meeting (later 

withdrawn by applicant) 
 

Tabled 
 
 

Information only 
 

Public hearing set 
 

July 10 Amendment to clarify the permitting of single 
family homes in the B-3 zone 
 
Request to rezone 38 Northshore from the B-3 
to the R1-A zoning district 
 
Site plan review for Goodwill store 
 
Draft Noise Ordinance discussion 
 
 
Discussion of procedure to expand mini-
storage facility on 2nd Avenue 
 

Tabled for further study 
 
 

Tabled 
 
 

Tabled until ZBA rules on 
variances needed 

 
Public hearing set for August 

meeting 
PC decided the matter 

should come before them as 
opposed to ZBA 

August 7 Public hearing on Noise Ordinance 
amendments 
 
Continued public hearing on Riverwatch 
Condominium amendment 
 
 
Discussion of changes requested by City 
Council to B-3 amendments adopted in March. 
 
 
 
Final approval for new Goodwill store 
 

No action taken 
 
 

Application amended 
requiring new hearing and 

notifications 
 
 

Changes approved w/minor 
modification and sent back 

to Council 
 

Approved 

September 4 Public hearing for revised amendment to 
Riverwatch Condominiums (removing Phase 2) 
 
Special use request for an inground pool on a 
waterfront lot (902 Monroe Blvd) 
 
Special use request for an inground pool on a 
waterfront lot (906 Monroe Blvd.) 

Forwarded to City Council 
 
 
 

Approved 
 
 

Approved 
October 2 Action on proposed rezoning  of 38 Northshore Forwarded to City Council 

November 7 Draft Noise Ordinance review Forwarded to City Council 

December 1 No meeting None 
 
 

 
 
 

January 8, 2015 
Planning Commission 

Page 59 of 64



Although not required, we have also prepared a summary of Zoning Board of Appeals 
(ZBA) activities in 2014: 
 
The ZBA met six (6) times and heard eleven (11) appeals. The summary follows: 
 
 
One (1) interpretation appeal to zoning administrator decision – upheld 
Two (2) side yard setback appeals – approved 
Two (2) front yard setbacks – approved 
Three (3) rear yard setbacks – two (2) denied 
One (1) appeal seeking relief from front landscaping requirements - approved 
One (1) seeking lot coverage above the maximum allowed - denied 
One (1) height variance - approved 

 
 
 

January 8, 2015 
Planning Commission 

Page 60 of 64



 
Planning Commission 

Staff Report 
November 13, 2014 

 
 

Planning Commission Staff Report 

 
Agenda Item #7c 

Draft Animal Ordinance Review 
 

City of South Haven 
 
 
 

Background Information:  
 
In early summer of 2014, staff was asked to review the city animal ordinance to ascertain 
whether the ordinance was adequate in light of a recent incident. The subcommittee members 
met with the Deputy Police Chief to discuss the city’s history of animal complaints and 
procedures used in investigating those complaints. 
 
Following that meeting and further discussion among the members of the subcommittee is was 
determined that the animal ordinance as it now reads is adequate for the city’s needs.   
 
Recommendation:  
 
The planning commission members should review the attached memo and determine if it is 
adequate to forward to the city manager for distribution. 
 
Support Material:  
 
Memo to the City Manager 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
Linda Anderson 
Zoning Administrator 

 
 
 

January 8, 2015 
Planning Commission 

Page 61 of 64



 
 
 

 
 
 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 
To:  Brian Dissette, City Manager 
From: Linda Anderson, Zoning Administrator 
Re: Dog Ordinances 
Date: December 11, 2014 

 
 

On July 30, 2014, a subcommittee of the planning commission met to discuss the city’s animal control 
ordinance, most specifically the sections related to dogs (Chapter 6, Article II, Dogs). This meeting was 
held in response to complaints by certain citizens that the regulations as currently adopted did not 
provide adequate protection for residents. The subcommittee asked that the deputy police chief also 
attend the meeting to discuss her experiences enforcing the current code. The group began the meeting 
with a review of existing city codes related to animals. A review of zoning ordinance and city codes 
follows: 
 
The zoning ordinance does not include penalties for allowing a dog to run free or to exhibit threatening 
behavior. It does limit the number of dogs which may be owned outside of a licensed kennel as five (5). 
 

Sec. 201.11.  Kennel, Commercial:  Any lot or premise on which five (5) or more dogs, cats, or 
other household pets four (4) months of age or older, are either permanently or temporarily 
boarded for remuneration, breeding, training, transfer or for sale purposes. 

 
The city code of ordinances  includes detailed explanation for what is expected of dog owners in the city. 
The code states that a dog owner shall at all times have reasonable control over their dog(s). This 
reasonable control is defined as: 
 

Reasonable control of a dog means restraining the animal on a suitable leash in all places other 
than the property of the owner. A dog need not be leashed when on the property of the owner so 
long as the animal is kept under the oral control of the owner. Reasonable control of any animal 
other than a dog shall mean restraining such animal on a suitable leash in all places including the 
property of the owner. Reasonable control of fowls shall mean a cage, pen, fenced area or other 
enclosure which confines the fowls to such enclosure. Animals which are pen, fenced area, or 
other enclosure, or which are 
confined in a closed motor vehicle or shipping receptacle, shall be presumed to be under 
reasonable control. 

 
It is also prohibited for dog owners to allow their pets to run loose or to damage or trespass on properties 
not belonging to the owner. 
 

City of South Haven 
City Hall • 539 Phoenix Street • South Haven, Michigan 49090-1499 

Telephone (269) 637-0760 • Fax (269) 637-5319 

 
 
 

January 8, 2015 
Planning Commission 

Page 62 of 64



Sec. 6-3.  It shall be unlawful for an owner of an animal to permit or allow the animal to run at-
large in any public street, lane, alley, sidewalk, or other public place or area set apart for use by 
pedestrians or for vehicular traffic or parking. 
 
Sec. 6-5. It shall be unlawful for a person who owns, harbors or keeps, or who is the 
custodian of an animal to permit or allow such animal to destroy or damage, or to 
trespass upon, the property of another person. 

 
Vicious and dangerous dogs are not specifically prohibited in the city but the ordinance states 
that such animals are not allowed to roam loose or attack another person or animal. 
 

Sec. 6-32. Every fierce, dangerous or vicious dog, or bitch while in heat, and every dog 
with a contagious disease, when running at large, is a public nuisance. It shall be the duty 
of the county animal warden or any peace officer to take up and confine any such dog, 
or, if necessary, to kill such dog at once, whether or not the same may be licensed. Every 
dog shall be deemed fierce, dangerous or vicious that shall run after, chase, or bite or 
attempt to bite any person. 
 
Sec. 6-36. No person shall keep any dog known to be vicious and liable to attack and 
injure human beings unless such dog is securely kept so as to prevent injury to any 
person. 

 
Discussion was held regarding breed specific ordinances and all attending were in agreement that such 
ordinances are often deemed unenforceable and largely held to be illegal. The deputy police chief stated 
that she has compiled some case summaries showing how that type of ordinance is being perceived as 
discriminatory against dog owners and showing how courts have handled challenges to the ordinances. 
Communities adopting this type of ordinance are often required to have the DNA tested of dogs 
suspected to be violent to determine the specific breed of the dog and whether that breed is outlawed. 
 
The deputy police chief talked about the processes the police have in place for issues like dog bites. She 
said that serious injuries and attacks by dogs in South Haven are extremely rare.  The members of the 
subcommittee discussed a recent animal threat and all believed the ordinance worked will in addressing 
that particular incident. There are also a group of police officers in town, including the deputy chief, who 
will be taking U.S. Humane Society training so they can assist the humane society when they are 
overburdened with animal complaints.  
 
The idea offered by a citizen that dog owners be required to build fences around their property was 
dismissed as being too costly and likely not legally defensible. It was also noted that some dogs would 
easily dig their way out of a fence. 
 
Subcommittee members agreed that the ordinance as written is adequate and may need just minor 
adjustments. They also thought the fines should be increased to provide further incentive for pet owners. 
The specific changes recommended by the subcommittee follow: 
 
Section 6-2b reads, “It shall be unlawful for a person who owns, harbors or keeps, or who has custody of 
an animal to permit or allow the animal to enter or remain in any public park or recreation area, public 
building, or any building or area which is open to the general public. That an animal may otherwise be 
under reasonable control shall not constitute a defense to prosecution under this subsection” (This 

 
 
 

January 8, 2015 
Planning Commission 

Page 63 of 64



section should have some clarifying language added to allow dogs in public places when on a leash.  
The subcommittee members believe this is the intent of the section but the wording is confusing.) 
 
 
Section 6-3b, which reads “(b) It shall be unlawful for a person who owns, harbors or keeps, or who has 
custody of a female animal in heat to permit such female animal to go outside a dwelling, building, cage, 
pen, fenced area or other enclosure unless effectively held on a leash”. (Since police officers are not 
usually medically trained to know when an animal is in heat by sight only, this section may be hard to 
enforce. Further, since other sections of the code prohibit animals from running loose, this section may 
not be necessary.) 
 
Part II, Chapter 1, Section 1-16, Municipal Civil Infractions, sets the fine for a first offense of the animal 
control ordinance at $50.00. The subcommittee recommends increasing the fine for first offense to 
$100.00. 
 
Please let staff know if further information is needed. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

January 8, 2015 
Planning Commission 

Page 64 of 64


	01-08-2015 Agenda pg
	11-13-2014 Regular Meeting Minutes
	#6 O'Reilly Sp Use packet
	#6  Staff Report
	Agenda Item #6
	The subject property is included in the M-43/I-196 Business Loop Corridor Overlay Zoning District which requires a special use permit for any proposed use which provides more than the minimum number of parking spaces permitted. The applicant is asking...

	application
	Case summary
	PUBLIC RESPONSE
	EVALUATION


	#7a O'Reilly SPR packet
	#7a Staff Report
	Agenda Item #7a
	The subject property is included in the M-43/I-196 Business Loop Corridor Overlay Zoning District and is designed to comply with all requirements included in that ordinance.

	application
	site plans
	Revised sheet C4
	exterior finishes and elevations
	department reviews

	#7b Annual Report to the City Council
	#7b Planning Commission
	Annual Report to City Council

	#7c. Dog Ordinance
	Staff Report
	Agenda Item #7c

	Dog Ordinance memo




